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Preface

The National Preservation Institute respectfully submits Lthe
following Preservation Assessment to The William Paterson College

of New Jersey. The subject property, Hobart Manor, serves the
college as a center of admissions, alumn: affairs and community
affairs. The Preservation Assessment herein coordinates the

existing i1nformation about the building and presents a series of
recommendations for a preservation program.

William Paterson College has recognized the importance of
Hobart Manor as both a didactic resource and a historic link o
Wayne and the community. To meet 1ts responsibilities as a
steward of this National Register property, the College has set
the following preservation goals:

1. to preserve Hobart Manor i1n a way that respects 1ts
historic significance.

2. to use Hobart Manor in a way that enhances the mission
and space needs of the College.

Hobart Manor 1s an 1mportant asset to William Paterson
College and to the history of Passaic County, New Jersey. The
building 1is significant because of 1ts association with two
important persons and eras of Passaic County history and because
it exhibits the work of a well known locai architect.

This Preservation Assessment has identified five
alternatives for preservation treatment. The first 1s a status
quo alternative which would promote a general program of regular
naintenance and repair. The second and third alternatives

identify preservation treatments for (a) a museum restoration to
the building’s earliest period or (b) regtoration of the 139172

design for the residence which maintains much of 1ts historia
integrity teoday. The fourth altarnative 13 Lo rastore selech and
adaptively reuse other areas of the building for the Tollege s
needs., The fifth alternative 135 to preserve the exteciaor  of the
buiiding only and teo remodel the 1nterior to fulfiil the
College’s space requirements, without opreserving any 2§ the
historic interior.

In a final <chapter NPI reccmmends that an adaptive
restocration program be davalioped. An  ocutline of aporopriate
nlanning and analys:is aztiviti=2s 13 1nc.zded 1n this chapt=rc %o
provide a set of guidelines Tor the preservat:i1oan of Hozach Manos
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“haprer Tne

History of Hobart Manor

Introdyct i

Hobart Manor 13 an historin buiiding thar serves W

&

Paterson College as *he center of admissions, a.iumni affa:ir:

the community affairs 2ffice, 2ach of these being functicns
link the college to 1ts past and prepare for .ts future.

+

an 1mpeortant fasiiity given the Callage’s Zommunity-or:

educational philosophy and mission. Wiliiam Paterson Cco

pursues educational excellence 1n associaticn with the naor
New Jersey region by intensifying  1ts ef forts to

intellectually, culturally and econcmicaily. Since Hobar:t
housgses the Coliege oaffices which 1nt2razt with sign.f
regional constituents, 1s recoqgqnized sy the communibty
historic regicnal social center, and 15 both symbolizall

actually the center of the Callege’'s thrust, the Dul.d

futyre 15 of i1mmense 1mportance.

Tesigned as an @stats  1n the Nhills  above  Fatarson
Jersey, Hobart Manor s a historic place arcund whoh the I
Has been develov:ing s:ince 1351 The :suiliinz 13 30 iU
sypbel of the coll=32 and cne wni:h “w:  z=2nera~.in: 20 3
identify with as +“h2  Tentral adsinlshirat.on Tazoliatw T
iima mater The MaT 3 13 oaciy sanafotant e oots oauat v Y

whe

o * Tmky b o o] * L B ) P RS
To oacIuIsItian Dy tow 3hate ol tew arsew un D74
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L.ege
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property that was first developed 1n the 187%s, by wool merchant

John W. MacCullough during the time of :industr:i:al prosperity for

Paterson. Over the years and with new ownership, ‘he guant::iy of
tand and the si1ze of the residence 1ncreased as di1d  Lhe
importance of persons associated with the property. The estate

was purchased 1n 1902 by the family of Garret A. Hobart, twenty-
fourth Vice President of the United States. The Vice President
had been born in Long Branch, New Jersey, and spent many years of
his youth in Monmouth County. Hobart estabiished his legal
career in Paterson with a keen interest 1in public affairs. Hisg
wife and successive generations of the Hobart family who resided
at Hobart Manor were equally committed to' public affa:irs in
Paterson and the region :n gensral.

Hobart Manor 1s saignificant as an =2xample of a law=

nineteenth century estate which, when renovated and exsanded
hetween 1915 and 1919, evolved 1nto a Tudor styls mansion
occupied by one of Paterson, New Jarsey’'s most distinguisnaed
families. The history of the residence, r=2¢gi:nn, and assosiateal
cersons are presented in these firs® Lwo chaptars. In order v
make sensible decisions regard:ing the use of Holtart Manor, 1t .3
necessary to understand the building’s nhistar:: us2s  and
apsearances as outl:ned 1n this first  thapnaer. Invonhe el
thaptler consz&erah:cn will =2 siven 3 e rrilidioo
significanze w:ithin the oontext ol tate ninmetaenthoant 2

twenhtieth century L:f2 1a Wayne, Pat2-3570. ani th2 New 20 ie ol e



A Chronological History of Hobart Mangr

MacCullough's Castle(Ailsa Crags): 1874-1902

In 1874, John Watt MacCullough, a Scottish :mmigrant
involved 1n the wool i1ndustry, began to assemble the land upon
which he would build a castle to reflect his growing economic
success. Like many industrialists 1n this era, MacCullough chose
to construct a grand residence removed from the center of
industrial activity. The first parcel that John W. MacCullough
acquired was from a Reobert MacCullosugh (no kxnown relation?,
purchased on June 13, 1874, for the sum of $1,000. 13 The deed
specified that John MacCullough was a newcomer to Paterson from
Buffalo, New York; Rebert MacCullnugh, however, was already a
resident of Paterson. On Apri! 22, 1875, Zohn MacCul lough
purchased an additional parcel from Henry and Mary Hillman at *the
cost of $70S5. 21 Though there 1s no Xnown architect or permit
information on record for the construction of the castle--an

1ssue that warrants additional resear-h and clarification--the

National Register Nomination foarm documen®ting *“h2 praopertly,

v
¢

i

X
Mt

indicates that the ear.iy building was =2rect2d 1n Lhe late L

This assessment 1s supported by a county map of 1877 ¢[llus. 1}

which recorded a rather large, sguare building form on the site
of John MacCullough’'s propectiy. An  =2ar.y ohoragraph CI11iviT.
* Passaic County Recsorder of Z=z2ds Liter H-5, zages 3201-
323
2 . - . -
Passaic County PF=2:oriar 2f Taads LiD=2r -5, za32s 51
S18



27 records a two-story asymmetrical fieldstone building
articulated by two octagonal towers and a similarly shaped cupola
with a dome cap which marked the center of the hipped roof over
the main section of the building. At the front was a two=-story
wooden portico which provided a covered entrance way on the first
floor and small porch accessible from the second story. The
National Register form prepared 1in :975 by Ronald McArthur of
William Paterson College, stated that the southern elevation had
“"a large bay window with a mansard roof extending over the second
floor....All other wvisible windows were of plain design
indicating a functional rather than decorative purpose.”

An ancnymous history of “"Ailsa Farms,” discovered by the
Passaic County Historical Society, suggests that Mr.
MacCullough’s total land parcel! was only three and one-half
acres. These were surrounded by forests and hills not unlike the
rugged beauty of Ailsa Crags, an 1sland off the west coast of
Scotland. "As the place and the name [Ailsa Cragsl] were dear Lo
him, so he gave memory tangibility, and new meaning 1n a new

world, in a new Ailsa Crags.” 3!

+

A circa 1900 photograph (Ilius. 3) 1li.ustrates changes mad-=

to the building in these ear.y vyears. Most prominent was the
removal of the two story woocden frent portico, replaced 2y a
fieldstone, single story entry sorch. About 1973 Zconon

MacCullough returned to 3:o0tland where he chose %0 shay, l2avin:

a caretaker to discoa32 of his New Zorsey home. The oroperhy <13

3 N . - “ T
Anonymous. Alisa Farms” omanuscoLnt. Nt odated. g, L.

FH



a caretaker to dispose of his New Jersey home. The property was
placed at public auction in May 1902, and Mrs. Garret A. Hobart,
widow of the twenty-fourth vice president of the United States,
purchased the estate at the cost of $5,28S. 4

If there exists any more detailed history of "Ailsa Crags,”
perhaps it is 1n family archives abroad. It does not appear that
there are any plans or family remaining in this country. Today
there are portions of original stonework remaining on the ground
story front elevation and on both stories of the rear elevation.
There is, however, little trace of original finishes on the
interior except 1n the foundation work at the basement level and
perhaps in the oldest attic section. [t is, therefore, difficult
to speculate on the 1nside configuration of the early building
without opening walls and i1investigating the structure. At this
time only the basement level and varying patterns 1in the exterior
stone work may suggest where changes have aoccurred. With further
analysis, these traces might show the chronology of changes to

the earliest building material.

Hobart Family Summer Res dence: 1302-19:5%

Upon the death of the Vice-President of the United Shtates,
Garret A. Hobart, in 1899, Mrs. Esther Jane (Jennie) Tuttile
Hobart returned from Washington, 3.CJ., to reside in th2 Hobar®

family haome of Carrcl!l ¥all, »ne of Patersen’'s .arje

Ronald C. McAr*thur. Nat:icna. Reg:ist=2c 3f Histar:ic Places
inventory--Nomination Fa3rm. Preparad 1375,



property until 1t was razed 1n 1239, Mrs. Hobart acguired more
real estate nearby. By one aécount, she was said to have been
convinced by John MacCullough’'s caretaker to cons:der purchase of
Ai1lsa Farms, though she had otherwise hoped to establish a
country residence “far i1n the mountains or within sight of the
sea."” 5! In any case she was convinced to make a minimum bid of
$5,000 on Ailsa when 1t came to auction 1n 1902. As highest
bidder for $5,285, Mrs. Hobart took pessession of the estate
which she <chose to make primarily a summer residence, though 1t
would also accommodate holiday festivities such as Christmas. It
was at Christmas of the same year that Mrs. Hobart gave the deed
of the property to her eighteen year old son Garret A. Hobart,
Jr. Record of how Garret Hobart Jr. and his family occupied
Ailsa Farms remains sketchy 1n the early years. In 1915, his
family had elected to use the property as a year—round residence.
By this time Mr. Hobart had acquired additional acreage
surrounding the estate and had expanded his business interests in
the New York Stock Exchange. This helped justify enlarging the2
residence to provide for several entertaining and jues't roonm

spaces.

Hobapt Famjly Permapent Residence: 13:5-.3373

From 1915 ta 1919 Sarret Hobart Jr. undertock an exhtz2ns.ve
remodeling and expansisn f Ail.3a Farms. T2 proc-elt was awariaa

to Fred W. Wentworih, FTLALILAL, ard

Anonynous . TAlisa Farms o nmarncis

e

i
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The project was awarded to Fred W. Wentworth, F.A.I.A., and
Frederick J. Vreeland, A.I.A., architects from Paterson. The
work included remodelling the exterior of the criginal manor.
The octagonal towers were removed and a new single story stone
entrance way, surmounted by a five-~-bay window, was added. The
stonework facing on the second story of the entry elevation was
removed, and plain sash windows were replaced with leaded glass

casements in many of the formal entertaining spaces of :th

1]

original building. There was also the addition of a three-story

e

[

wing to the northeast and addition of a fieldstone and t:
terrace on the east side of the coriginal building. By the time
work was completed in 1919, the house consisted of over forty
rooms with a marble fireplare i1n nearly all of them, eight baths,
a roof-top ‘terrace, and a grand spiral staircass in the entry
hall. Some of the most important documentation of the
modifications at this time 1s contained :1n a 1929 published
photographic essay on the woark of architest Fred W. Wentworth.
The front elevation (Illus. 4), though still asymmetrical, had
lost much of its early picturesque 3Jualities Lo a more foarmal
sense of order. Lancet arches, semi~hexagonal casement bay
windows and massive chimneys of tudor precedent were combined
with colonial revival detail of mock quoininjy at window surrcuncs

and a parapet balustrade. Th=2 lattar tied “he whole of the 2nhry

wh

elevation together with a zZonsistent rzofliine unliile the pravian

k%]

tawered and domed crnof. Terails of the ntarciocr fiarsnies, 2L

rllustrated 1n  this publicaticn, sffered  a szmbination

]




classical beaux arts and barogue precedents to be noted 1n the
repeated use of,pai}ed French doors (Illus. S), walls defined
with moldings to suggest paneling, a grand spiral staircase
(Illus. 6), and overmantles with elaborate plasterwork swags of
fruit and flora (Illus.7).

An undated set of plans, prepared just after the State’s
acquisition of the property 1in 1948 6/, offers valuablie
definition of the interior spaces which are i1n part confirmed by
the Wentworth-Vreeland photographic essay. These, coupled with
a 1875 narrative of reminiscences prepared by Elizabeth Hobart
Kingsbury (granddaughter of Garret and Jennie Hobart), provide
extensive information about the early twentieth century
arrangement of rooms.

At the basement level (Illus. 83 in the northeast wing,
there were four servants’' rooms and a large children’s playroom,

recalled by Mrs. Kingsbury teo have been later cut 1n half to

afford an additional. bedroom. 7f Mrs. Kingsbury remembersad a
household staff of a cook, ki1itchen maid, houseman, waitress-
parlor-maid, butler and ons or two chambermaids. Two chauffsurs,

the laundress and assistant laundress were housed n the old

6 The State acquired the oaroperty 1n 1348 and :s said %o
have installed the elevator 11n the ‘*hree story wing. M)
elevator 1s depicted 1n these plans whith ctherwise re2cord “he
resi:dential uses 1nherent 1n “he building 9r:2r L9 conversion o
an esducatisanal facii:ity.

7 R3ane

Elizabeth H. ¥:ngsbury. Letta
recalling the author’'s .1f2 at Ailsa Farms.

ng. 2.

W
-
I
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carriage house directly behind the first floor kitchen.

The first floor of the new wing (Illus. 9) included three
children’s bedrooms, a nurses room, two guest bedrooms, a
separate bath for each guest room, a shared bath for adjacent
children’s rooms, and a shared bath for the nurse’s quarters
linked to the third child’s bedroom. The first floor plan of the
main building contained the central stair hall with a grand
spiral stair. To the weast of this was a small smoking rocm
ad jacent to a large reception room. To the west of the central
hall, there was a children’s dining room, serving pantry, several
closets, and a vault accessed from a closet off the central stair
hall. Linking the east reception room to the Kitchens at the
western most end of this floor, was a passage including a bath, a
flower room and a servants’ dining area on the north side.

The second story of the main building housed the formal
entertaining spaces for the residence. From the spiral stair one
would reach the spacious wupstairs hall with a broad semi-
hexagonal bay window. Off this stair hall to the east was a
drawing room which extended the full depth of the main building.
To the west of the stair hall was a lilibrary and toilet. A
billiard room at the farthest west end of this floor abutted a
butler’s pantry which was l:inked by <ircular stair to the Kitchen
below. The formal d:ning room was on “he north side of tre
building, behind the i:brary, and %o the 2ast 2f the dining r2cn

was an "ante room” passage to the drawing room,  Mrs. £Lingsdury s

ey,

& - - ~
M LT 2o

recollection was tha*t th:.:s ongce sarved as an =




father.

The second floor plan (Illus. 10} of the wing included Mrs.
Jennie Hobart’s room at the east end linked by passage, bath and
closet to a maids chamber and linen closet on the north side.
The master suite for Mr. and Mrs. Garret Hobart, Jr., a large

dressing room and bath abuitted a guest room and bath on the snouth

side.

Above this level of the main building (Illus. 11) were two
additional bedrooms; a bath and an organ room. These atticg
chambers were servants quarters according to Mrs. Kingsbury. She

also wrote that the organ loft over the front hall stair was an
ideal vantage point from which to watch and eaves drop on family
parties excluding the supposed sleeping children. On the top
leve]l of the wing was a roof top terrace which also served as a
dance hall when Mrs. Kingsbury’'s parents had an orchestra and two
Arthur Murray dance teachers to instruct on this terrace, 8/

The above described configuration of the exterior and

nterior rooms characterized the residences up unt:il the lime of

e

1ts conveyance to the State of New Jersey 1in 1948. The gJrounds
had been expanded 1n 1938 to more *than two hundred acces L2

, 3 .
include the Gaede’'s Estate on top of "Haledon Hill.” [ By .94:

both Garret A. Hobart Jr. and his mother Jenn:e Hobar* had di24.

8 Mrs. Kingsbury .etta2r. pg. 3.

S

Michael Driscosll. "Hnabhart Manor Restoration Propesal.’
2. 1986 (as suggested by funidra:sing under consideration ah thas
specified time). 23. 2.



Mrs. Hobart lived to be ninety-one, but her son, who suffered
heart failure, lived to be only fifty-five. By 1348 Mrs. Garret

(Caroline Frye) Hobart, Jr., decided to sell the property %o the

lG/

State of New Jersey for $200,0600. As the Newark Newsg

reported 1n the summer of that year, this sum was just half or
perhaps one third of the property’s estimated value at that time.
111 Given the history of the Hobart family s contributions to

the Paterson community, this good fortune for the College may not

have come as a surprise.

Paterscon State Teachers College/Haledon Hall: 1948-1976

Several years passed before the Board of Education permitted

the State Teachers College to occupy the site. The annual
report of the New Jersey State Tearhers College at Paterson,
1951-1952, specified that the manor was designated "East Hall"”
and served as administrative offices and the college library,

with three classrooms i1n the basement. 12/

The report further
detailed that the library was not opened until January, 1952, as
a result of unfinished waork by wvarious contrachiors, particular.y

the Watson-Flagg Company, contractor for lighting.

Drawings prepared by architeacts Laplerr2 & DLitchfield n

L0 Driscoll. “Hobart Manor Restoratiosn Proposal”™ <. 1336
pg. 2.

1 Trenton Bureau, Nawarl Mowe, “Hobart Zstate Seen [d2a 0
as Paterson College Site.” Summer 1943.

L2 "Annual Renorth: Haw larsey State Teachers College2 3
Paterson, 1951-19%2" AZiressa2d %2 on2 Dr. Faubinger. 23. L




July 1958 suggest the schematic changes necessary for the
educational uses proposed in the oldest section of the manor
building. Few of these changes were structural. The drawings
show that the servants’ dining room, f{lower room and bath were
converted to one large walting room. The first floor reception
room off the entry hall was reduced 1n size to accommodate a
passage along the north wall which lead from the waiting room to
a fire door on the east wall. A fire stairway was installed 1in
the northwestern corner of the building where additional kitchen
facilities had been at both the first and second story levels.
Elsewhere at the second story level partitions were added to
create necessary office spaces; however, all of these werse
removed by William Paterson College in 1985-13986. [t i3
important to note that changes made to the significant spaces of

the manor house were minimal and i1ntended only to adapt the house

to its new institutional use. With the exception of the first
floor reception room, waiting room and northwest corner {ir=
stair, all of thess adaptations have been removed, leaving the

building much as 1t was when designed by Fred W. Wentworth
between 1915-1819.

In addition to the 1interior changes made between 13530 and
the late 1970s the building was renamed twice: first in th2 lat=

1960s, when it was designated Haledon Hall; and ‘then :n 1377,

when the building was renamed Hobarh Manor.

13

v

Driscoll. "Hobart Manor Pestoration 2ropoiias’ T L3218

Dg. 3.
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was also 1mportant in the history of the building as that was the
year in which 1t was listed on the National Register of Historic

Places.

Hobart Manor: 1876-19388

Since the early 1980s, William Paterson College has been
contemplating and developing a preservation program for the
building. In 1883 the College began planning for the restoration
of the building and 1ts significant intericor spaces. During
1985-1886 all the offices were moved from Hobart Manor and the
College undertook repairs necessitated by water damage; the
removal of all walls and partitions added since 1952; and the
improvement of the electrical, plumbing and heating systems. ‘4,

In 1987, the College moved 1ts admissions, community affairs
and alumni affairs offices 1nto the bui.ding. Now 1n 1988,

William Paterson College 1s undertaking this Preservation

Assessment to refine 1ts treatment of Hobart Manor.

14 Driscoll. “Heobart Manor Pestocaticn Poonosal’t oL 1985

pg. 3.
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